

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

- § 1:1 Scope
- § 1:2 Prong one/step one
- § 1:3 Prong two/step two
- § 1:4 Exemptions—When the anti-SLAPP statute is not available
- § 1:5 Terminology

CHAPTER 2. PROCEDURAL ISSUES WITH ANTI-SLAPP MOTIONS

I. INTRODUCTION

- § 2:1 In general
- § 2:2 Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16 “shall be construed broadly”
- § 2:3 This protection extends broadly to communicative and noncommunicative conduct
- § 2:4 Courts broadly construe Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16
- § 2:5 Anti-SLAPP statute available beyond “paradigm” SLAPP suit
- § 2:6 No showing of intent to chill required
- § 2:7 No showing of actual chilling required
- § 2:8 “Consequences” of applying Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16 not considered
- § 2:9 Constitutional challenges to Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16 rejected
- § 2:10 What is a “cause of action” under Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16?

II. USES OF ANTI-SLAPP MOTIONS

- § 2:11 Multiple uses of anti-SLAPP motions
- § 2:12 Entire complaint
- § 2:13 Individual cause of action
- § 2:14 Portions of a cause of action
- § 2:15 Cross-complaint
- § 2:16 Petitions against harassment
- § 2:17 Declaratory relief actions
- § 2:18 Actions challenging ballot measures and initiatives
- § 2:19 Federal claims

- § 2:20 Compare—Issuance of a subpoena is not subject to an anti-SLAPP motion
- § 2:21 —Conspiracy claims
- § 2:22 —Vicarious liability
- § 2:23 —Demands for private arbitration
- § 2:24 —Litigation in a foreign country
- § 2:25 —Anti-SLAPP motion unavailable in a limited civil case
- § 2:26 —Anti-SLAPP motion unavailable against an answer or affirmative defenses

III. WHO MAY FILE AN ANTI-SLAPP MOTION?

- § 2:27 “Person[s]” under Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16
- § 2:28 Individuals
- § 2:29 Corporations
- § 2:30 Successor in interest
- § 2:31 Real party in interest
- § 2:32 Nonprofit organizations
- § 2:33 Government
- § 2:34 Compare—No government attorney’s fees recovery for Public Records Act and Open Meetings Law actions
- § 2:35 Politicians and elected public officials
- § 2:36 Compare—Petition for joinder is not subject to an anti-SLAPP motion
- § 2:37 Persons acting on behalf of others
- § 2:38 Defendant’s size and wealth is irrelevant
- § 2:39 Frequent users of the anti-SLAPP statute
- § 2:40 —Attorneys
- § 2:41 —Media

IV. WHEN TO FILE?

- § 2:42 Timing issues
- § 2:43 No duty to meet and confer before filing
- § 2:44 Within 60 days after service of complaint
- § 2:45 Application—Discretion upheld
- § 2:46 —Discretion abused
- § 2:47 Filing a special motion to strike—60 days extended by manner of service
- § 2:48 Court need not explain its decision to hear anti-SLAPP motion beyond 60-days
- § 2:49 Effect of change of venue
- § 2:50 Hearing date to be scheduled within 30 days of filing
- § 2:51 Court clerk to set hearing within 30 days
- § 2:52 Joinders to pending anti-SLAPP motions permitted

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- § 2:53 Waiver of untimeliness objections
- § 2:54 Required documents to support an anti-SLAPP motion
- § 2:55 Declarations required
- § 2:56 Evidentiary objections
- § 2:57 Parties required to give notice to Judicial Council of California
- § 2:58 Second anti-SLAPP motion proper vehicle to challenge amended pleading

V. FILING ANTI-SLAPP MOTION AUTOMATICALLY STAYS DISCOVERY

- § 2:59 Effect of filing an anti-SLAPP motion
- § 2:60 Immediate stay of discovery
- § 2:61 —Rationale
- § 2:62 Compare—In federal court—No automatic stay

VI. PROCEDURE TO OBTAIN DISCOVERY TO OPPOSE ANTI-SLAPP MOTION

- § 2:63 Procedure to obtain discovery
- § 2:64 Noticed motion required
- § 2:65 “Good cause” showing
- § 2:66 Trial court has discretion
- § 2:67 Application

VII. NO AMENDMENTS TO THE COMPLAINT PERMITTED

- § 2:68 Plaintiff may not amend complaint to nullify anti-SLAPP motion
- § 2:69 No Amendments After Anti-SLAPP Motion Granted
- § 2:70 Compare—Amendment permitted to show probability of plaintiff’s success on the merits
- § 2:71 —Amendment permitted to name a new defendant
- § 2:72 —Amendment considered where no objection
- § 2:73 —Effect of voluntarily dismissing lawsuit and filing second action
- § 2:74 —Amendments possible in federal court

VIII. TRIAL COURT’S RULING ON ANTI-SLAPP MOTION

- § 2:75 Trial Court’s Ruling on Anti-SLAPP Motion
- § 2:76 A Judge’s Anti-SLAPP Motion Decision Tree
- § 2:77 Statement of decision requirement
- § 2:78 Effect of granting anti-SLAPP motion

- § 2:79 No denial with leave to amend in state court
- § 2:80 Denial of an anti-SLAPP motion is not admissible

IX. ANTI-SLAPP APPEAL

- § 2:81 Appeal
- § 2:82 Automatic right of appeal
- § 2:83 No right of appeal if § 425.17 exemptions found
- § 2:84 No right of appeal if case is a SLAPPback (Cal. Civ. Proc. § 425.18)
- § 2:85 Writ relief
- § 2:86 Compare—No right to appeal prejudgment ruling on anti-SLAPP motion in a limited civil case
- § 2:87 No interlocutory appeal available in federal court
- § 2:88 Options for immediate appellate review in federal court
- § 2:89 Compare—No interlocutory review of a plaintiff's attorney's fee award
- § 2:90 A motion for reconsideration
- § 2:91 Court's ruling on motion for anti-SLAPP attorney's fees does not extend appeal deadline
- § 2:92 Notice of appeal automatically stays trial proceedings
- § 2:93 Compare—No stay of proceedings for causes of action not affected by anti-SLAPP motion
- § 2:94 No stay of judgment awarding fees and costs
- § 2:95 De novo standard of review—On appeal
- § 2:96 —Rationale
- § 2:97 Trial court's ruling on evidence supporting/opposing Anti-SLAPP motion—Abuse of discretion standard of review
- § 2:98 The absence of a reporter's transcript on appeal
- § 2:99 Appellate court may decide prong two in the first instance or remand
- § 2:100 Appellate court may affirm on any basis, or remand
- § 2:101 No peremptory challenge post-appeal

X. FEES AND COSTS

- § 2:102 Fees and Costs
- § 2:103 Mandatory attorney's fees and costs for a successful defendant
- § 2:104 —Rationale
- § 2:105 Three options for recovering attorney's fees under Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16
- § 2:106 Deadline for a separate motion for fees

TABLE OF CONTENTS

§ 2:107	No fee recovery when plaintiff dismisses before an anti-SLAPP motion is filed
§ 2:108	Fee recovery when dismissal occurs before anti-SLAPP motion is decided
§ 2:109	Fee recovery after voluntary dismissal
§ 2:110	Fee recovery for a partially successful anti-SLAPP motion
§ 2:111	Compare—No fee recovery for anti-SLAPP victory with no practical effect
§ 2:112	Attorney’s fee recovery against a party—Not counsel
§ 2:113	Exceptions to fee recovery—No anti-SLAPP attorney’s fee recovery for the government in open meetings and public records litigation
§ 2:114	Appellate fees and costs recoverable
§ 2:115	Fee recovery if plaintiff abandons appeal
§ 2:116	Fees and costs to enforce and collect judgment
§ 2:117	Only “reasonable” fees recoverable
§ 2:118	Lodestar approach
§ 2:119	Pro bono representation is compensable
§ 2:120	Trial court has discretion to set recoverable hourly rates
§ 2:121	No fees for self-represented lawyer or law firm
§ 2:122	Application—Attorney’s fee awards
§ 2:123	Plaintiff’s mandatory fee recovery (sanctions) for defendant’s filing of a “frivolous” anti-SLAPP motion
§ 2:124	Meaning of “pursuant to Section 128.5”
§ 2:125	Court must make “frivolous” finding
§ 2:126	An anti-SLAPP motion that is granted only in part is not frivolous
§ 2:127	Court must recite “frivolous” conduct
§ 2:128	—Application
§ 2:129	Compare—Anti-SLAPP motions found not to be frivolous

XI. ANTI-SLAPP MOTION IN FEDERAL COURT

§ 2:130	<i>[Reserved]</i>
§ 2:131	Generally
§ 2:132	Anti-SLAPP unavailable against federal claims in federal court
§ 2:133	Rationale
§ 2:134	Federal courts apply substantive California law
§ 2:135	Federal courts broadly construe the anti-SLAPP statute
§ 2:136	How Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16 is treated in federal court

- § 2:137 Efforts to eliminate Anti-SLAPP motions within the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals Repeatedly Rebuffed
- § 2:138 When treated as a Rule 12(b) or (c) motion to dismiss
- § 2:139 When treated as a Rule 54 motion for summary judgment—Amendments Possible
- § 2:140 Mandatory recovery of attorney’s fees and costs provisions are available in federal court
- § 2:141 —Rationale
- § 2:142 Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subdivs. (f) and (g)—The Discovery and Timing Controls of the anti-SLAPP statute do not apply in federal court
- § 2:143 No immediate appeal available if anti-SLAPP motion is denied

CHAPTER 3. PRONG ONE: ACTIVITIES AND CONDUCT SUBJECT TO ANTI-SLAPP STATUTE

I. INTRODUCTION

- § 3:1 Prong one of Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16

II. DEFENDANT’S SHOWING/BURDEN IN PRONG ONE

- § 3:2 Defendant’s required prong-one showing
- § 3:3 Defendant’s underlying activity is the focus
- § 3:4 Anti-SLAPP Motion available against causes of action, or partial causes of action based on protected activity that are asserted as grounds for relief
- § 3:5 Court must consider the parties’ pleadings and evidence
- § 3:6 What a defendant need not prove in prong one to use the anti-SLAPP statute
- § 3:7 The merits of plaintiff’s claims are irrelevant in prong one
- § 3:8 The legality of the defendant’s actions is not the focus in prong one
- § 3:9 Defendant need not prove a constitutional violation
- § 3:10 Defendant need not prove that plaintiff intended to chill the defendant’s right of petition or free speech
- § 3:11 Defendant need not prove that plaintiff actually chilled the defendant’s constitutionally protected activities

TABLE OF CONTENTS

**III. WHETHER DEFENDANT’S CONDUCT
ARISES FROM AND IS IN FURTHERANCE
OF PETITIONING OR FREE SPEECH**

- § 3:12 Meaning of “arising from an act . . . in
furtherance of petitioning or free speech”
- § 3:13 Defendant’s burden
- § 3:14 Timing sequence is not determinative
- § 3:15 Application—Declaratory relief action
- § 3:16 —Cross-complaints and compulsory
cross-complaints
- § 3:17 —Retaliatory and oppressive litigation tactics do
not trigger anti-SLAPP protection
- § 3:18 Meaning of “in connection with”—Anti-SLAPP
statute may protect private speech
- § 3:19 —Application
- § 3:20 Compare—Claims arising from false allegations
of criminal conduct are not protected

**IV. ANTI-SLAPP PROTECTION IS NOT
AVAILABLE WHERE THE GOVERNMENT IS
NOT EXERCISING RIGHTS OR WHERE A
GOVERNMENT WRITING OR ACTIVITY IS
ONLY INCIDENTAL OR MERELY
EVIDENCE OF CONDUCT**

- § 3:21 Examples of where anti-SLAPP protection not
available for protected conduct that is only
incidental or merely evidence of underlying
unprotected conduct

**V. JUDICIAL TEST USED TO DETERMINE
WHETHER ANTI-SLAPP PROTECTION IS
AVAILABLE**

- § 3:22 Each allegation of protected activity must be
evaluated—but defendant must specify protected
claims
- § 3:23 The “Gravamen” Approach is Disfavored
- § 3:24 Anti-SLAPP statute is available where
defendant’s conduct is “mixed”
- § 3:25 After *Baral*: Properly challenging only portions of
a complaint
- § 3:26 Implementing *Baral v. Schnitt* in California’s
trial and appellate courts

**VI. STATUTORY CATEGORIES OF SPEECH
AND CONDUCT PROTECTED BY ANTI-
SLAPP**

- § 3:27 Categories of speech and conduct protected by the
anti-SLAPP statute

- § 3:28 Statements or writings in official proceedings
(Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16 subd. (e)(1))

VII. STATEMENTS OR WRITINGS IN OFFICIAL PROCEEDINGS (§ 425.16, SUBD. (E) (1))

- § 3:29 All petition-related activity is protected—Activity need not concern public issue
- § 3:30 —Rationale
- § 3:31 Application—Lobbying Activities
- § 3:32 —Assessing ADA Compliance
- § 3:33 —Ballot measures
- § 3:34 Compare—Petitioning activity on private property
- § 3:35 Application—Trademarks
- § 3:36 —Seeking Tax-Exempt Status
- § 3:37 Compare—Documents Submitted To Support Non-Profit Status
- § 3:38 Application—Civil rights claims
- § 3:39 Statements or writings in legislative or executive proceedings
- § 3:40 Application—Internal investigations and writings
- § 3:41 —Reports of unlawful conduct to authorities
- § 3:42 Litigation-related activities broadly protected
- § 3:43 Overlap with the litigation privilege (Civ. Code § 47, subd. (b))
- § 3:44 Application—Illegal activity
- § 3:45 Actions involving attorneys
- § 3:46 Legal malpractice actions are not subject to the anti-SLAPP statute
- § 3:47 Actions involving attorneys—Malicious-prosecution actions
- § 3:48 Abuse-of-process actions
- § 3:49 Actions involving attorneys—Compare—SLAPPbacks
- § 3:50 Compare—Attorney malpractice or misconduct
- § 3:51 Rationale
- § 3:52 Alternative theories against attorneys also barred
- § 3:53 Misrepresentation or Failure to Disclose Information Can Be Protected
- § 3:54 Indemnification actions
- § 3:55 Prelitigation statements and notices
- § 3:56 Compare—Contemplated litigation must itself be valid
- § 3:57 —Communications related to litigation that are not anti-SLAPP protected
- § 3:58 Application—Petition to enforce a no contest clause
- § 3:59 —Soliciting government investigation
- § 3:60 —Investigative reports

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- § 3:61 Compare—Tender of defense
- § 3:62 —Bad-faith claim
- § 3:63 —Reports to support insurance claims
- § 3:64 —Issues not properly presented in official proceeding
- § 3:65 —Private sexual harassment investigation and corrective action process
- § 3:66 Court filings
- § 3:67 Compare—Court filings not triggering anti-SLAPP protection
- § 3:68 Recording lis pendens
- § 3:69 Recording a lien
- § 3:70 Settlement offers and negotiations
- § 3:71 Compare—Allegedly Fraudulent statements involving settlement
- § 3:72 —Negotiations
- § 3:73 Wrongful eviction/unlawful detainer actions
- § 3:74 Compare—When eviction not the basis for action
- § 3:75 —Notice of nonjudicial foreclosure
- § 3:76 “Other official proceedings authorized by law”
- § 3:77 Application—Complaints to a school
- § 3:78 —Medical peer-review proceedings
- § 3:79 Compare—Physician’s summary suspension
- § 3:80 Application—Veterinarian licensure
- § 3:81 —Planning/permitting documentation
- § 3:82 —NASD investigation
- § 3:83 —State unemployment benefits
- § 3:84 Statutory Arbitration
- § 3:85 Compare—Private arbitration not anti-SLAPP protected
- § 3:86 Application—State administrative proceedings
- § 3:87 —Uninsured motorist disputes
- § 3:88 —Securities arbitrations
- § 3:89 Investigations
- § 3:90 Application—Statutory hearing procedures
- § 3:91 Compare—Discrimination claims
- § 3:92 —Filing of a stop notice
- § 3:93 —Public construction bids
- § 3:94 —Removal of a director of a charitable, nonprofit organization
- § 3:95 —Sheriff’s auction
- § 3:96 —Union trusteeship proceeding

VIII. COMMUNICATIONS OR WRITINGS IN CONNECTION WITH AN ISSUE UNDER CONSIDERATION BY AN OFFICIAL BODY (§ 425.16, SUBD. (E) (2))

- § 3:97 Communications in connection with an issue

- “under consideration” by an official body (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16 subd. (e)(2))
- § 3:98 Need not concern public issue
- § 3:99 “Connected with” showing required
- § 3:100 Overlap with litigation privilege
- § 3:101 Application—Statements in Securities and Exchange Commission Filings
- § 3:102 —Legislative proceedings
- § 3:103 Compare—Noncompetitive bid contract
- § 3:104 Executive proceedings
- § 3:105 Compare—Fraudulent sales tax reporting
- § 3:106 Judicial proceedings
- § 3:107 Compare—No anti-SLAPP protection under subdivision (e)(2) for foreign judicial proceedings
- § 3:108 —No anti-SLAPP protection under subdivision (e)(2) for a company’s failure to respond to Labor Code personnel records requests
- § 3:109 Communications in connection with an issue “under consideration” by an official body—Official proceedings

IX. STATEMENTS MADE IN A PLACE OPEN TO THE PUBLIC OR A PUBLIC FORM ON ISSUES OF PUBLIC INTEREST (§ 425.16, SUBD. (E) (3))

- § 3:110 Statements made in public on issues of public interest (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16 subd. (e)(3))
- § 3:111 “Public forum” is broadly construed
- § 3:112 Recognized “public forums”
- § 3:113 California’s Constitution provides broader forum protection
- § 3:114 Application—U.S. mail
- § 3:115 Compare—Not all speech sent through the U.S. mail enjoys anti-SLAPP protection
- § 3:116 Application—Media
- § 3:117 —Newsletters
- § 3:118 —Homeowners association proceedings
- § 3:119 —Newspapers
- § 3:120 —Magazines
- § 3:121 —Radio
- § 3:122 —Television
- § 3:123 —Internet
- § 3:124 Disclosure through public records act response and “reverse” CPRA actions
- § 3:125 Compare—Speech threatening bodily harm published on website not protected

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- § 3:126 —Speech emailed, published on internet and social media not involving public concern not protected
- § 3:127 —Incorporation documents and exemption from state tax not protected
- § 3:128 Anti-SLAPP statute protects any other conduct in the exercise of certain constitutional rights

X. ANY OTHER CONDUCT IN FURTHERANCE OF THE EXERCISE OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT OF PETITION OR THE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT OF FREE SPEECH IN CONNECTION WITH A PUBLIC ISSUE OR AN ISSUE OF PUBLIC INTEREST (§ 425.16, SUBD. (E) (4))

- § 3:129 Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (e)(4), enacted to ensure that the anti-SLAPP statute be “construed broadly”
- § 3:130 Distinct from Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (e)(2)
- § 3:131 Broader than Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (e)(3)

XI. WHAT IS A PUBLIC ISSUE—A SHOWING REQUIRED IN § 425.16, SUBD. (E)(3) AND (4)?—JUDICIAL TESTS & CASES

- § 3:132 California Supreme Court in *FilmOn* and *Geiser* Define the “Public Interest” Test for the Anti-SLAPP Statute
- § 3:133 Characteristics of a “Public issue or an issue of public interest”—*Rivero v. AFSCME*
- § 3:134 *Du Charme v. Int’l Brotherhood of Elec. Workers*
- § 3:135 *Weinberg v. Feisel*
- § 3:136 Judicial “tests” for defining issues of public interest—Broad construction
- § 3:137 “Public issue” and “issue of public interest” are interchangeable
- § 3:138 “Public issue/public interest” is broadly construed
- § 3:139 Issue need not be significant
- § 3:140 Compare—Public’s interest in a general subject matter insufficient
- § 3:141 Public issue may be of interest to a definable portion of the public
- § 3:142 —Compare

XII. EXAMPLES OF MATTERS THAT INVOLVED PUBLIC ISSUES AND ANTI-SLAPP PROTECTED

- § 3:143 Application—Actions involving homeowners associations
- § 3:144 —Investor presentations and earnings calls of publicly traded companies
- § 3:145 —Celebrities and entertainment
- § 3:146 —Consumer protection information
- § 3:147 —Corporate activity
- § 3:148 —Development affecting the public
- § 3:149 —Domestic violence information
- § 3:150 —Education information
- § 3:151 —Gender identity discussions
- § 3:152 —Health information
- § 3:153 —Elections
- § 3:154 —Fraud
- § 3:155 —Public demonstrations
- § 3:156 —Qualifications for public office
- § 3:157 —Religious groups
- § 3:158 —Sale of securities
- § 3:159 —Sex offense information
- § 3:160 Qui Tam litigation

XIII. EXAMPLES OF MATTERS THAT DID NOT INVOLVE PUBLIC ISSUES AND NOT ANTI-SLAPP PROTECTED

- § 3:161 Compare—Certifying an organic product standard
- § 3:162 —Private disputes
- § 3:163 —Distribution of union flyer not involving public issue
- § 3:164 —The unauthorized use of an individual’s persona
- § 3:165 Civ. Proc. Code § 425.16, subd. (e)(4), protects speech and conduct, including “noncommunicative” conduct
- § 3:166 Application—Anonymous online speech
- § 3:167 —Coordinating meetings to discuss prospective legislation
- § 3:168 —Compelled speech
- § 3:169 —Online database
- § 3:170 —Call-in radio talk show
- § 3:171 —Correspondence
- § 3:172 —Creative works
- § 3:173 —Idea submission
- § 3:174 —Editorial decisions

TABLE OF CONTENTS

§ 3:175 —Decisions on how & whether to speak

§ 3:176 —Newsgathering

**CHAPTER 4. CAUSES OF ACTION
SUBJECT TO AN ANTI-SLAPP MOTION**

- § 4:1 Introduction
- § 4:2 Abuse of process
- § 4:3 Antitrust (including unfair competition claims)
- § 4:4 Aiding & abetting
- § 4:5 Barratry
- § 4:6 Breach of confidence
- § 4:7 Breach of contract (including promissory estoppel)
- § 4:8 Breach of the covenant of quiet enjoyment
- § 4:9 Breach of fiduciary duty
- § 4:10 Breach of the implied covenant of good faith and
fair dealing
- § 4:11 Breach of loyalty
- § 4:12 Breach of trust
- § 4:13 Cancellation of cloud on title
- § 4:14 Civil Extortion
- § 4:15 Civil rights (state and federal)
- § 4:16 Claim and Delivery
- § 4:17 Concealment
- § 4:18 Conspiracy
- § 4:19 Conversion
- § 4:20 Defamation (including libel and slander)
- § 4:21 Domestic violence restraining order
- § 4:22 Disclosure of confidential and privileged
information
- § 4:23 Discrimination (employment, including wrongful
termination claims)
- § 4:24 Discrimination (housing)
- § 4:25 Elder abuse
- § 4:26 Equitable indemnity
- § 4:27 Eviction (fraudulent/wrongful/retaliatory)
- § 4:28 False advertising
- § 4:29 False arrest
- § 4:30 False impersonation
- § 4:31 False Promise
- § 4:32 False report to police
- § 4:33 Fraud (including deceit)
- § 4:34 Harassment (including petitions to prevent
workplace violence)
- § 4:35 Indemnification
- § 4:36 Infliction of emotional distress
- § 4:37 Interference (intentional/negligent) with
contractual relations

ANTI-SLAPP LITIGATION

- § 4:38 Interference (intentional/negligent) with prospective economic advantage
- § 4:39 Invasion of privacy (including right of publicity and misappropriation)
- § 4:40 Malicious prosecution
- § 4:41 Misrepresentation (intentional and negligent)
- § 4:42 Negligence (and “Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress” (“NIED”))
- § 4:43 Negligent hiring/retention/supervision of employees
- § 4:44 No Contest Petition
- § 4:45 Prima facie tort
- § 4:46 Probate Petition
- § 4:47 Quiet title
- § 4:48 Rescission
- § 4:49 Retaliation
- § 4:50 Slander of title
- § 4:51 Spoliation of evidence
- § 4:52 Statutory Violation: Bus. & Prof. Code § 6147
- § 4:53 Statutory Violation: Bus. & Prof. Code § 17525 (illegal use of domain name)
- § 4:54 Statutory Violation: Civ. Code § 54 (Disabled Persons Act)
- § 4:55 Statutory Violation: Civ. Code § 1714.4 (child support evasion)
- § 4:56 Statutory Violation: Civ. Code § 1750 (Consumer Legal Remedies Act (CLRA))
- § 4:57 Statutory Violation: Civ. Code § 1785.1 (Consumer Credit Reporting Act)
- § 4:58 Statutory Violation: Civ. Code § 1786.20 (Investigative Consumer Reporting Agencies Act)
- § 4:59 Statutory Violation: Civ. Code § 1788 (Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (RFDCPA))
- § 4:60 Statutory Violation: Civ. Code § 1788.50 (Fair Debt Buying Practices Act)
- § 4:61 Statutory Violation: Civ. Code § 1788.200 Private Student Loan Collections Reform Act
- § 4:62 Statutory Violation: Civ. Code § 2527 (Prescription Drug Reporting Act)
- § 4:63 Statutory Violation: Civ. Code § 4900 (Common Interest Development Open Meeting Act)
- § 4:64 Statutory Violation: Civ. Proc. Code § 527.6 (Civil Harassment Restraining Order)
- § 4:65 Statutory Violation: Civ. Proc. Code § 724.050 (Enforcement of Judgments Law)
- § 4:66 Statutory Violation: Corp. Code § 5617
- § 4:67 Statutory Violation: Corp. Code § 25400
- § 4:68 Statutory Violation: Gov. Fam. Code § 6340 (Domestic Violence Restraining Order)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

§ 4:69	Statutory Violation: Gov. Code § 526a
§ 4:70	Statutory Violation: Gov. Code § 1090 (restriction on financial interests)
§ 4:71	Statutory Violation: Gov. Code § 8314 (use of public resources)
§ 4:72	Statutory Violation: Gov. Code § 8547.8 (Whistleblower Protection Act)
§ 4:73	Statutory Violation: Gov. Code § 16645.6
§ 4:74	Statutory Violation: Gov. Code § 7920.000 (Public Records Act)
§ 4:75	Statutory Violation: Gov. Code § 81001 (public disclosure of assets and income of public officials)
§ 4:76	Statutory Violation: Election/election contribution laws
§ 4:77	Statutory Violation: Health & Safety Code § 1278.5
§ 4:78	Statutory Violation: Health & Safety Code §§ 25404.1, 25180(d), 25187(e)
§ 4:79	Statutory Violation: Lab. Code §§ 1050, 1102.5 (retaliation against a whistleblower)
§ 4:80	Statutory Violation: Lab. Code § 2802
§ 4:81	Statutory Violation: Local rent control ordinance
§ 4:82	Statutory Violation: Pen. Code § 290.46 (Megan's Law)
§ 4:83	Statutory Violation: Pen. Code § 496
§ 4:84	Statutory Violation: Pen. Code § 632
§ 4:85	Statutory Violation: Pen. Code § 6126.5
§ 4:86	Statutory Violation: Prob. Code § 1700 (Petition to Reform Trust)
§ 4:87	Statutory Violation: Prob. Code §§ 21310, 21311
§ 4:88	Statutory Violation: 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681 et seq. (Federal Fair Credit & Reporting Act)
§ 4:89	Statutory Violation: 15 U.S.C. § 1692 (Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA))
§ 4:90	Statutory Violation: 18 U.S.C. § 1961 (Racketeer Influenced and Correct Organizations Act)
§ 4:91	Theft
§ 4:92	Trade libel
§ 4:93	Trespass
§ 4:94	Unfair, unlawful, and/or unfair business practice (including Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200)
§ 4:95	Wrongful foreclosure

CHAPTER 5. PRONG TWO OF THE ANTI-SLAPP STATUTE

I. INTRODUCTION

§ 5:1	Plaintiff's burden to prove "probability" of prevailing
-------	---

- § 5:2 Civ. Proc. Code 425.16, subd. (b)—“Summary judgment-like” legal standard
- § 5:3 What constitutes “a probability of prevailing?”
- § 5:4 Legally sufficient

II. PLAINTIFF’S SHOWING/BURDEN IN PRONG TWO

- § 5:5 Plaintiff must overcome defendant’s substantive legal defenses
- § 5:6 Split of Authority on Burden of Proof for the affirmative defense of privilege
- § 5:7 Application—Petition for injunction against civil harassment
- § 5:8 —Showing in a declaratory relief action
- § 5:9 —Showing of common-law malice
- § 5:10 —“Clear and convincing evidence” in actual malice cases
- § 5:11 —“Actual malice”
- § 5:12 —Statute of Limitations
- § 5:13 —No Contest Petition
- § 5:14 ‘Mixed’ cause of action?

III. EVIDENTIARY SHOWING

- § 5:15 Plaintiff must submit admissible evidence
- § 5:16 Court “shall” consider pleadings and affidavits
- § 5:17 —Compare
- § 5:18 Proper affidavits/declarations
- § 5:19 Inadmissible opinion and argument
- § 5:20 Separate statements of fact admissible?
- § 5:21 Properly executed declarations
- § 5:22 “Under the laws of California”
- § 5:23 Proper foundation
- § 5:24 —Compare
- § 5:25 Hearsay
- § 5:26 Court will not weigh or determine credibility of competing evidence
- § 5:27 Waiver of evidentiary objections
- § 5:28 Request for judicial notice
- § 5:29 Objections to improper requests for judicial notice may be waived
- § 5:30 Evidentiary issues—Earlier court proceedings bearing on the “probability” of prevailing
- § 5:31 Preliminary injunction proceedings
- § 5:32 Stay proceedings
- § 5:33 Granting of summary adjudication/summary judgment
- § 5:34 Denial of summary judgment in earlier lawsuit

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- § 5:35 —Compare
- § 5:36 Rule 11 sanctions ruling
- § 5:37 Collateral estoppel/contractual bar
- § 5:38 Probate court statement of decision

IV. APPENDIX OF PRONG TWO DECISIONS BY CAUSE OF ACTION

- § 5:39 Appendix of appellate prong-two decisions
- § 5:40 Abuse of process
- § 5:41 Aiding & abetting
- § 5:42 Antitrust (including unfair competition claims)
- § 5:43 Barratry
- § 5:44 Breach of confidence (including breach of fiduciary duty, loyalty, and trust claims)
- § 5:45 Breach of contract
- § 5:46 Breach of the covenant of quiet enjoyment
- § 5:47 Breach of Fiduciary Duty
- § 5:48 Breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing
- § 5:49 Cancellation of cloud on title
- § 5:50 Civil rights (state and federal)
- § 5:51 Claim and Delivery
- § 5:52 Concealment
- § 5:53 Conversion
- § 5:54 Conspiracy
- § 5:55 Defamation (including libel and slander)
- § 5:56 Disclosure of confidential and privileged information
- § 5:57 Discrimination in employment
- § 5:58 Equitable indemnity
- § 5:59 Eviction (fraudulent, retaliatory, and wrongful claims)
- § 5:60 Extortion
- § 5:61 False advertising (including Bus. & Prof. § 17500 claims)
- § 5:62 False arrest
- § 5:63 Fraud
- § 5:64 Harassment
- § 5:65 Indemnification
- § 5:66 Infliction of Emotional Distress
- § 5:67 Interference (intentional/negligent) with contractual relations
- § 5:68 Interference (intentional/negligent) with prospective economic advantage
- § 5:69 Invasion of Privacy (including right of publicity and misappropriation)
- § 5:70 Malicious prosecution

ANTI-SLAPP LITIGATION

§ 5:71	Misrepresentation (intentional and negligent)
§ 5:72	Negligence (including “Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress” “NIED”)
§ 5:73	Negligent hiring and supervision
§ 5:74	No contest petition
§ 5:75	Prima facie tort
§ 5:76	Promissory estoppel
§ 5:77	Quiet title
§ 5:78	Slander of title
§ 5:79	Spoliation of evidence
§ 5:80	Statutory Violation: Brown Act/Open Meetings Law (Gov. Code § 54950)
§ 5:81	Statutory Violation: Bus. & Prof. Code § 6147
§ 5:82	Statutory Violation: Civ. Code § 1714.4 (child support evasion law)
§ 5:83	Statutory Violation: Civ. Proc. Code § 527.6 (Civil harassment restraining order)
§ 5:84	Statutory Violation: Civ. Proc. Code § 1060 (declaratory relief)
§ 5:85	Statutory Violation: Corp. Code § 5617 (challenge to election)
§ 5:86	Statutory Violation: Fam. Code § 6340 (domestic violence restraining order)
§ 5:87	Statutory Violation: Gov. Code § 526a
§ 5:88	Statutory Violation: Gov. Code § 16645.6
§ 5:89	Statutory Violation: Health & Safety Code § 1278.5 (retaliation)
§ 5:90	Statutory Violation: Health & Safety Code §§ 25404.1, 25180(d), 25187(e)
§ 5:91	Statutory Violation: Lab. Code §§ 1050, 1102.5 (retaliatory action against a whistleblower)
§ 5:92	Statutory Violation: Lab. Code § 2802
§ 5:93	Statutory Violation: Pen. Code § 496
§ 5:94	Statutory Violation: Pen. Code § 6126.5
§ 5:95	Statutory Violation: Pen. Code §§ 21310, 21311 (no contest petition)
§ 5:96	Statutory Violation: Prob. Code § 1700 (petition to reform trust)
§ 5:97	Statutory Violation: Common Interest Development Open Meeting Act (Civ. Code § 4900)
§ 5:98	Statutory Violation: Consumer Legal Remedies Act (Civ. Code § 1750)
§ 5:99	Statutory Violation: Election Campaign Laws
§ 5:100	Statutory Violation: Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA) (15 U.S.C. § 1692)
§ 5:101	Statutory Violation: Megan’s Law (sex offender registry—Pen. Code § 290.46)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

§ 5:102	Statutory Violation: Public Financial Interest Laws (Gov. Code §§ 1090, 8314)
§ 5:103	Statutory Violation: Public Safety Officers Procedural Bill of Rights (Gov. Code § 3300)
§ 5:104	Statutory Violation: Prescription Drug Reporting Act (Civ. Code § 2527)
§ 5:105	Statutory Violation: RICO (18 U.S.C. §§ 1961 et seq.)
§ 5:106	Statutory Violation: Civ. Code § 1788.50 Fair Debt Buying Practices Act
§ 5:107	Statutory Violation: Civ. Code § 1788.200 Private Student Loan Collections Reform Act (PSLCRA)
§ 5:108	Statutory Violation: Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (RFDCPA) (Civ. Code §§ 1788–1788.337)
§ 5:109	Statutory Violation: Whistleblower Protection Act (Gov. Code § 8547)
§ 5:110	Theft
§ 5:111	Trade libel
§ 5:112	Trespass
§ 5:113	Unfair, unlawful business practices (including Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 claims)
§ 5:114	Wrongful Foreclosure

CHAPTER 6. EXEMPTIONS (ACTIONS NOT SUBJECT TO ANTI-SLAPP MOTIONS)

I. INTRODUCTION

§ 6:1	In general
§ 6:2	Narrow construction
§ 6:3	No implied exemptions to the anti-SLAPP statute
§ 6:4	Plaintiff bears burden of proof
§ 6:5	No Automatic Appeal Available if Civ. Proc. Code 425.17, subds. (b) or (c), Exemptions Triggered

II. PUBLIC ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS

§ 6:6	Public enforcement actions
§ 6:7	Government enforcement of consumer laws exempt
§ 6:8	Application—Civil action to enjoin allegedly misleading advertising
§ 6:9	—Civil action to enjoin attorney from filing unfair competition lawsuits
§ 6:10	<i>[Reserved]</i>
§ 6:11	<i>[Reserved]</i>

- § 6:12 Compare—City’s cross-complaint against developer

III. ACTIONS FILED SOLELY IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST

- § 6:13 Action filed solely in the public interest (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.17, subd. (b))
- § 6:14 Criteria plaintiff must satisfy
- § 6:15 Entire complaint scrutinized
- § 6:16 Does the plaintiff seek greater or different relief for themselves?
- § 6:17 If successful, would plaintiff’s action enforce an important right affecting the public interest and confer a significant benefit on the general public or a large class of persons?
- § 6:18 Necessity of Private Enforcement and Plaintiff’s disproportionate burden
- § 6:19 Comparison to Civ. Proc. Code § 1021.5
- § 6:20 Court may dispose of anti-SLAPP motion on merits and not address exemption
- § 6:21 Application—Actions for unfair business practices and class actions
- § 6:22 —Class action to enforce prevailing wage statute
- § 6:23 —Class action for debt collection practices
- § 6:24 —Compare—Putative class action
- § 6:25 — —Unruh civil rights action
- § 6:26 —Actions to invalidate statutes
- § 6:27 —Lawsuit to invalidate automobile insurance discount statute
- § 6:28 —Qui tam actions
- § 6:29 —Qui tam action for insurance fraud
- § 6:30 —Putative class action to enforce publicity rights

IV. ACTIONS INVOLVING CERTAIN COMMERCIAL SPEECH

- § 6:31 Claims involving certain commercial speech (Civ. Proc. Code § 425.17, subd. (c))
- § 6:32 Conditions for exemption
- § 6:33 Distinction from Civ. Proc. Code § 425.17, subd. (b)
- § 6:34 Application—Action for false advertising
- § 6:35 —Action for false and deceptive representations
- § 6:36 —Statements made for the purpose of securing sales
- § 6:37 Compare—Action based on franchisor’s promises to act
- § 6:38 Application—Taxi cab lawsuit for false advertising on the Internet

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- § 6:39 —Lawsuit challenging statements in press releases made by a publicly traded company
- § 6:40 —Lawsuit between competing waste collection providers
- § 6:41 Compare—Communications unrelated to business goods and services
- § 6:42 —Action based on statements about the future
- § 6:43 —Action based on critical statements by a non-business competitor
- § 6:44 —Action for “client stealing”
- § 6:45 —Misappropriation action based on a publication
- § 6:46 —Action based on publication of listing in sex offender registry
- § 6:47 —Action based on a consultant’s report
- § 6:48 —Action based on trade group representations
- § 6:49 —Action based on class-action lawyer’s client solicitation
- § 6:50 —Negligence action against publisher of prescription drug monograph
- § 6:51 —Political speech and petitioning activity
- § 6:52 Limitations
- § 6:53 Specific speech not subject to Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 425.17 exemptions
- § 6:54 Specific entities not subject to Civ. Proc. Code § 425.17 exemptions

V. INDISPUTABLY CRIMINALLY ILLEGAL CONDUCT NOT PROTECTED

- § 6:55 Indisputably criminally illegal conduct is not protected by anti-SLAPP statute
- § 6:56 Preliminary inquiry
- § 6:57 “Illegal” means criminal behavior
- § 6:58 Application—Criminally Illegal Conduct
- § 6:59 Illegal Monitoring
- § 6:60 Application—Theft
- § 6:61 —False police report
- § 6:62 —Public disclosure of confidential personnel files
- § 6:63 Compare—Action challenging hospital’s tax-exempt status
- § 6:64 —Alleged Criminal Impersonation
- § 6:65 —Mere possession of allegedly stolen property
- § 6:66 —Action based on attorneys’ failure to complete required oaths and paperwork
- § 6:67 —Action for challenging legality of investigation
- § 6:68 —Action based on creation of an estate plan
- § 6:69 —Action based on seeking a bench warrant
- § 6:70 —Action for collusion to defraud
- § 6:71 —Action for conduct in a wrongful eviction

- § 6:72 —Action for breach of lease agreement and covenant of good faith
- § 6:73 —Action based on conduct in violation of duties of confidentiality and loyalty
- § 6:74 —Action based on submission of fraudulent site plans to a city
- § 6:75 —Libel action for criticism of a bank
- § 6:76 —Civil rights claim
- § 6:77 —Debt Collection Practices

VI. OTHER ACTIVITY NOT PROTECTED BY ANTI-SLAPP

- § 6:78 Constitutionally protected First Amendment activity other than free speech and petitioning
- § 6:79 —Right of free exercise of religion
- § 6:80 Other bars to using the anti-SLAPP statute
- § 6:81 “True threats”
- § 6:82 Waiver by contract
- § 6:83 Res judicata/collateral estoppel

CHAPTER 7. ANTI-SLAPP LITIGATION FORMS

- § 7:1 Model Attorney-Client Engagement Letter Language
- § 7:2 Anti-SLAPP Motion, Supporting Declaration, Request for Judicial Notice
- § 7:3 Motion to Take Discovery to Oppose Anti-SLAPP Motion
- § 7:4 Opposition to Motion to Take Discovery
- § 7:5 Opposition to Defendant’s Special Motion to Strike
- § 7:6 Stipulations
- § 7:7 Required Notices to the California Judicial Council
- § 7:8 Motion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs, Supporting Declarations

CHAPTER 8. STATE ANTI-SLAPP STATUTES

- § 8:1 State anti-SLAPP statutes
- § 8:2 Arizona
- § 8:3 Arkansas
- § 8:4 California
- § 8:5 Colorado
- § 8:6 Connecticut
- § 8:7 Delaware
- § 8:8 District of Columbia
- § 8:9 Florida

TABLE OF CONTENTS

§ 8:10	Georgia
§ 8:11	Hawaii
§ 8:12	Idaho
§ 8:13	Illinois
§ 8:14	Indiana
§ 8:15	Iowa
§ 8:16	Kansas
§ 8:17	Kentucky
§ 8:18	Louisiana
§ 8:19	Maine
§ 8:20	Maryland
§ 8:21	Massachusetts
§ 8:22	Michigan
§ 8:23	Minnesota
§ 8:24	Missouri
§ 8:25	Montana
§ 8:26	Nebraska
§ 8:27	Nevada
§ 8:28	New Jersey
§ 8:29	New Mexico
§ 8:30	New York
§ 8:31	Ohio
§ 8:32	Oklahoma
§ 8:33	Oregon
§ 8:34	Pennsylvania
§ 8:35	Rhode Island
§ 8:36	South Dakota
§ 8:37	Tennessee
§ 8:38	Texas
§ 8:39	Utah
§ 8:40	Vermont
§ 8:41	Virginia
§ 8:42	Washington
§ 8:43	Guam
§ 8:44	Public Expression Protection Act

Table of Laws and Rules

Table of Cases

Index